
CITY OF HANOVER 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

FEBRUARY 2, 2021 – OFFICIAL MINUTES 
 
Call to Order/Pledge of Allegiance: 
Mayor Chris Kauffman called the regular meeting of Tuesday, February 2, 2021 to order at 7:13 p.m.  
Present were Mayor Chris Kauffman, Councilors Ken Warpula, Jim Zajicek, MaryAnn Hallstein and 
Thomas Dierberger.  Also present was City Attorney Jay Squires, City Planner Cindy Nash, City Engineer 
Nick Preisler, City Administrator Brian Hagen, and Accountant Jackie Heinz.  Guests included Joey 
Wendinger, Scott Dahlke, Gary Fehn, Nathan Hermer, Brian Lester, Reid Rabon, Sam Jones, and a Wright 
County Sheriff. 
 
Approval of Agenda: 
MOTION by Warpula to approve the agenda, seconded by Dierberger.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Consent Agenda: 
Hagen stated in Ordinance 2021-01, section 5.03, the last sentence will be changed to “may be ticketed 
and / or have their vehicle towed” to be consistent with the policy language. 
MOTION by Hallstein to approve the consent agenda, seconded by Warpula. 

a. Approve Minutes of January 19, 2021 City Council Work Session Meeting 
b. Approve Claims as Presented: 

 Claims  $     35,840.89 
 Payroll   $       9,714.13 
 P/R taxes & Exp $       3,621.18 
 Other Claims  $       2,589.87 
 Total Claims     $     51,766.07 

c. Ordinance 2021-01 – Amending Chapter 5 Related to Snowplowing  
d. Res No 02-02-21-05 – Amending Chapter 800, Snowplowing Policy 
e. Res No 02-02-21-06 – Approving Renewal of Consumption and Display Liquor License  
f. Res No 02-02-21-07 – Authorizing Advertisement for Summer Seasonal Position 

Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Citizen’s Forum: 
None 
 
Public Hearings: 
None  
 
Unfinished Business: 
None  
 
New Business: 
 Concept Plan: Bridgewater Senior Living, Phase 2 
Nash stated she has reviewed the submitted concept plan and her comments are included in the packet.  
The Planning Commission also reviewed the concept plan at their January 25, 2021 meeting and discussed 
compatibility with the existing building, soils quality, pond erosion, Fire Department Emergency Calls, 
landscaping, and trash.  Joey Wendinger stated he is from the ISG Architect & Engineering Design Team 
and are looking to build a 24-unit, 2 story building to the west of the existing building, access would 
remain as is, with the addition of 26 parking stalls.  Wendinger further stated soil borings have been taken 



and soil correction is needed for 2’ below the footings.  Wendinger stated regarding the emergency calls, 
he cannot speak for the current owner, but based on feedback, a plan will be implemented under new 
management for both buildings.  ISG has a landscape architect on board to match the landscaping to the 
existing building and follow city code.  A trash plan would also be implemented with a tuck inside 
enclosure.  Brian Lester stated he was present at the planning commission meeting, there were concerns 
about the soil conditions, he has looked at the reports and the soil corrections will be a normal procedure 
and a non-issue.  Lester further stated he would like to set meetings with the Fire Chief to discuss possible 
options going forward.   
 
Zajicek stated in the first proposal there were two, one level buildings opposite each other, one side was 
scraped, and the existing building moved due to soil conditions.  Lester stated it is not extenuating 
circumstances to remove a pad and recompact.  Kauffman inquired about the historical information on the 
property.  Nash stated in the concept plan, there were two, 2 story buildings and the soils issue came after.  
Zajicek asked what the initial proposal was.  Nash stated one, two story building.  Kauffman stated Zajicek 
could be remembering open house drawing from other locations. 
 
Preisler stated his comments were basic, existing water connections will need to be tested to determine if 
they provide capacity for basic and fire suppression use, the existing pond will be used, the parking lot 
will be curbed, and they are looking into erosion concerns.  Hagen inquired if there are recommendations 
on soil borings and their locations.  Preisler stated he agrees with the applicant, borings on the pad site.   
 
Hagen stated the minutes from the 4-27-2015 planning commission meeting shows a concept review with 
a single two-story building, with a possible second building in the future.  Nash stated in the spring of 
2015 the site plan included two – 24-unit buildings.  Zajicek mentioned the 5-5-2015 council meeting.  
Hagen stated the developer at the time was seeking approval for two buildings, feedback was given for 
one building at the time, now a second developer if requesting approval.  Hagen went on to read an e-mail 
from Reid Rabon stating his concerns of emergency vehicles, contractors, garbage trucks, the parking lot, 
and the financial impact to existing Hanover residents.  Reid stated at the 10-26-15 planning commission 
meeting it was stated in the minutes if there would be second building, the response was no, and the site 
would remain grass.  Warpula stated the city is not doing the soil corrections, the developer is.  Lester 
stated the soil is not an issue and will be taken care of.  Squires stated there are no legal issues.  Warpula 
stated from a Fire Department standpoint, Bridgewater is working with Hennepin County and becoming 
better at not paging for transports, staff is doing better with requesting transport only, the Fire Department 
does not use lights or sirens when going to Bridgewater, always routine.  Warpula further inquired if the 
parking lot lights could be limited or use a certain number of lumens.  Preisler stated he would have to 
reference the city ordinance for the candles amount, but the lights could be more directional for less light 
pollution.  Squires stated regardless of the ordinance, council can be stricter as there is a PUD proposal.  
Kauffman stated he can understand the lights during the winter months, additional landscaping around the 
front and back would be nice.   
 
Nash stated the recommendations and comments moving forward are non-binding, we are not looking for 
approval tonight, but rather feedback. Kauffman stated his concerns are the plowing, garbage, and lighting.  
Warpula stated he recalls once the first building was filled, a second would be built, he supports the second 
building with the resident concerns in mind.  Zajicek inquired if the trash receptacle was new, Wendinger 
stated yes.  Hagen stated the existing trash receptacle is of brick construction, it is three sided with a gate.  
Residents call with concerns of garbage cans outside of the receptacle, which are the recycling containers.  
Hagen suggested on the second building to expand the receptacle area to include the recycling containers 
and a larger dumpster so there is one pick up per week. 
 



 Fehn: 15th Street NE Developers Agreement & Request for Financial Security Reduction 
Hagen stated part of the mine approval required a security to be collected, Gary Fehn is requesting a partial 
release of the credit.  Nick agrees with the letter of credit reduction amount and the amount will cover any 
needed work.  Squires stated it makes sense for the payment of the $100K to not be made until the project 
is complete, but the reduction of the letter of credit is okay.  Squired further stated they are two separate 
matters and should not be mixed.  Preisler stated he has looked at the letter of credit amount as the worse 
case scenario, waiting for spring to relook at, there will be a full 1.5” overlay with some milling and 
restriping costs.   
MOTION by Hallstein to reduce the letter of credit to $65,927.50 and retain the $100k until the project 
is complete, seconded by Kauffman.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Warpula stated the road is in bad shape.  Fehn stated he does not understand why the money cannot be 
released, he is not going anywhere, and the road will be fixed.  Dahlke stated this decision is not in the 
spirit of the agreement.  Warpula inquired if there as another option.  Squires stated the letter of credit has 
been reduced, the city has agreed to contribute to the road and the work is not complete at this time.  
Dahlke stated there will not be another mill, just an overlay.  Kauffman inquired if they could get rid of 
the high spots, Dahlke stated the lift will remove the high spots.  Preisler stated he calculated on his own 
quantity take off and used the current market costs.  Preisler further stated the bumpy spots can be fixed 
but will be difficult, there is an option of using a sensor on a paver to help smooth the ride but will not 
completely fix it.  Warpula inquired if Fehn has paid the contractor, Fehn stated no.  Hallstein stated the 
item has already been voted on, when could it be revisited.  Preisler stated he recommends waiting until 
after spring road restrictions. 
 
 Discussion: DRAFT Fire Capital Interfund Loan Amortization Schedule 
Hagen stated roughly $415K needs to be borrowed as an interfund loan to cover the cost of the new 
Engine.  Hagen further stated there are four different schedules included in the packet at 0%, 1%, 2% and 
3% interest.  The last equipment certificate was issued at 3.5%.  Hagen stated the loan length is for 10 
years, plan to run the truck for 30 years so there is 20 years with no payment.  Hagen went on to review 
each option and the amounts.  Discussion continued regarding the fire service contracts with Corcoran, 
Greenfield and Rockford Township and cost sharing.   
 
Hallstein inquired about the possibility of losing Corcoran when they decide to build their own department.  
Hagen stated our best estimate is that we will not lose Corcoran based on station location.  The fire study 
shows it would be built on the East edge where development is happening.  Hagen further stated when St. 
Michael left, Hanover bared the cost and slowly reduced the impact.  Dierberger inquired if these were 
annual contracts, Hagen stated no, three-year terms so we would have a couple year heads up.  Hallstein 
stated she is comfortable with 1%.  Hagen stated we have already saved a large amount by paying in cash.  
Kauffman stated he is comfortable with 2%.  Hagen stated there is a fire board meeting in two weeks 
where this will be presented.  Warpula stated he is comfortable with 1%.  Hagen stated to be mindful of 
who you are serving and be financially responsible.  Dierberger stated he is comfortable with 1%.  Hagen 
inquired of Squires if the options sounded in line and if a certain type of language was needed.  Squires 
stated a resolution would be fine, he reminded council they are talking about a 10-year term, a 1% rate is 
good today, but who knows in 9 years.  Squires further stated you could tie the rate to an index pool, so it 
fluctuates.    
 
 
 
  
 



Reports  
Hagen 

• The yellow house across from BankWest reached out and is frustrated with the snowmobilers 
going up into their yard, they have worked with the Foxtailers and put tape up.   The owners want 
to submit receipts for damage; however, the city is not liable for property damage in the right of 
way.   

• The Fehn master sign approval will have an administrative hearing. 
• Local Board of Appeals and Equalization will be at the April meeting. 
• Park Board, EDA, Council and Planning Commission meetings done via hybrid or in person.  

Council consensus for in person for Park Board and EDA and hybrid for Council and Planning 
Commission. 

• I94 State of the Cities will be done virtually this year on February 25th. 
• Jim, MaryAnn and Chris need to respond to the doodle poll. 

Kauffman 
• With Fehn, if the City gives the money back then we would have no leverage. 
• Suggested hiring an intern for under Brian. 

 
Adjournment 
MOTION by Warpula to adjourn at 8:53 p.m., seconded by Dierberger.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
       APPROVED BY: 
 
       __________________________________ 
       Chris Kauffman, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
        
___________________________________ 
Brian Hagen, City Administrator 


